RECEIVED

Sep 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

v.

KARSEEM NICHOLAS HARDAWAY,

APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Appellant Case No. 2024-001245

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

Scarlett A. Wilson
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Karseem Nicholas Hardaway was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder (R. p. 789-790) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 793-794). On March 20, 2024, pre-trial hearings were held before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. Appearing before the trial judge, was the Appellant along with his trial counsel Assistant Public Defender Rachael C. Arora of the Ninth Circuit Public Defender's Office, also appearing representing the State of South Carolina were Assistant Solicitors B. Chad Simpson, and Kelly E.M. Barber of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office.

During these hearings the Appellant made a motion to exclude the search warrants related to the Appellant's phone, phone contents, location, and Google searches. The Appellant argued that probable cause was not presented within the affidavits that were presented to the circuit court judge prior to the issuance of these search warrants; therefore, the items found should not be allowed into evidence. The trial court disagreed and dismissed the Appellant's motion.

On March 25, 2024, all parties appeared before the trial court for a jury trial. After four days of testimony a jury of his peers found the Appellant guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence. (R. p. 735 l. 7-12; l. 16-21). After the reading of the verdict, the Appellant appeared before the trial court for sentencing. The trial court proceeded to sentence the Appellant to a forty-year period of incarceration for the offense of murder, (R. p. 754 l. 3-5), and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence. (R. p. 754 l. 6-7). The trial court ordered that these sentences were to be served concurrently. (R. p. 754 l. 8-9).

While serving his sentence the Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal before this court. The Respondent's brief in defense of Appellant's accusations follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In July of 2021, David Lee Conner (victim) was a construction foreman working with Sack Construction in Columbus, Georgia. His job was doing HVAC installation; he had worked for the company for eleven years. (R. p. 236 l. 6-13; l. 24-25). The victim was doing remote work in the Charleston area, and employees working more than an hour and a half from home were set up in apartments by the company. (R. p. 249 l. 10-13). During this time the victim was living with a roommate, Mark Mosier, who also worked for Sack. (R. p. 250 l. 12). At that time Tiffany Hardaway lived in an apartment across the breezeway. Law enforcement later determined Tiffany was the sister of Karseem Hardaway (Appellant).

On July 12, 2021, the victim got into an argument with a person outside of his apartment. The victim left a voicemail with the apartment complex security officer complaining about what had occurred. Within this voicemail the victim requested that the person he had an argument with be removed from the complex. (R. p. 538 l. 19 – 539 l. 1).

The next day the victim left his job at 5:00 pm. On the trip home he spoke on the phone to his wife Vicki, until he got to his apartment complex at 5:31 pm. (R. p. 241 l. 3-17). The victim's roommate, Mr. Mosier worked farther away so he arrived at the apartment later. (R. p. 252 l. 6-11). Surveillance video revealed that Mr. Mosier left the work site at 5:14 pm. (R. p. 259 l. 17). Mr. Mosier went to a convenience store prior to returning to the apartment. (R. p. 262 l. 6-9). Mr. Mosier did not arrive at the apartment until close to 6:00 pm. (R. p. 262 l. 12). When Mr. Mosier arrived, he found the door unlocked. He tried to open it; however, there was something behind the door. (R. p. 262 l. 22-23). Mr. Mosier had to force the door open, and that is when he found the victim lying behind the door in a large pool of blood. (R. p. 262 l. 24 – p. 263 l. 3). Mr. Mosier then called 911.

Crime Scene Investigator for the Charleston Police Department, Paul Kelly, arrived at the crime scene and checked the victim. Investigator Kelly located a round wound on the backside of the victim's neck on the left side of the hairline. (R. p. 223 l. 1-3). While processing the crime scene Investigator Kelly found a 10mm shell casing in the front of a recliner inside the apartment. (R. p. 219 l. 22-25; p. 220 l. 9-10). During the trial Investigator Kelly testified about the fact he has processed hundreds of crime scenes, however, he never collected a .10-millimeter shell casing at a crime scene before this case. (R. p. 221 l. 10-17).

During the investigation, law enforcement found that a neighbor, Tiffany Hardaway, had a Ring Door Camera outside her apartment door. (R. p. 291 l. 22 – p. 292 l. 3). Tiffany's apartment was at the front right; the victim's apartment was at the back left. (R. p. 292 l. 14-16). Law enforcement contacted Tiffany. She gave them a video revealing that the Appellant left her apartment, walking past the victim's apartment at 5:04 pm on the day of the incident. (R. p. 541 l. 21-25). The video revealed no other person going towards the victim's apartment from 5:04 – 5:32 pm. (R. p. 542 l. 1-4). Law enforcement investigated Ms. Hardaway and found out she had a brother. They also learned about the type of car he drove, as well as the cars Ms. Hardaway and other family members had that could be associated with her apartment. (R. p. 317 l. 16-19). Law enforcement later went to Tiffany to get more video. When they arrived at the complex, they found the Appellant sitting in his car. The Appellant admitted that he spent the night of July 12 at Tiffany's apartment. (R. p. 322 l. 4-6). The Appellant informed them that he left the apartment complex at 5:04 and drove to John's Island. (R. p. 544 l. 3-6).

During their investigation, law enforcement collected video from a surveillance camera at the apartment's leasing office and a nearby Circle K convenience store. (R. p. 544 l. 20-22). The

video revealed the Appellant's vehicle leaving the apartment complex at 5:35 pm. (R. p. 546 l. 1-5). The Circle K video revealed that the Appellant drove past at 5:37 pm. (R. p. 548 l. 19-20).

Law enforcement went back to Tiffany to get more video footage. As she was scrolling through the videos Investigator William Crockett saw her stop at one video and select a red button on the video. (R. p. 325 l. 11-15). Tiffany gave her phone to Investigator Crockett, and he did the same thing and realized this is what you do to erase a video. (R. p. 325 l. 15-23).

Later, Law enforcement obtained a search warrant for the Appellant's phone. (R. pp. 157-163). Once they received the Appellant's phone, they received another search warrant for the phone contents, site locations, and Google searches. (R. pp. 164-171). Law enforcement found that the phone's location was near the crime scene at the estimated time of the crime. (R. p. 554 l. 18-22). Law enforcement was informed about the victim's voicemail complaining about the altercation with someone outside of his apartment, the voicemail was made on July 12, 2021, at 9:51 pm. (R. p. 556 l. 21-25) Appellant's phone records revealed that he made a phone call on July 12, 2021, at 9:46 pm. (R. p. 558 l. 16-19).

Within the Appellant's phone, law enforcement found Facebook photos with a picture of the Appellant that shows the top portion of a handgun with the inscription "20, Gen 4 10-millimeter auto." (R. p. 564 l. 4-14). On these Facebook photos law enforcement was also able to locate the serial number of the handgun. (R. p. 570 l. 7-10). On Appellant's phone there were also searches on YouTube for videos, "testing the SEM Tactical 30 round 10-millimeter mags," and "10-millimeter drum." (R. p. 577 l. 11-14).

On Appellant's phone there were also Google searches beginning at 11:35 on July 12, for "Sack company," "Sack Truck," "Sack Truck logo," "Sack Inc." (R. p. 579 l. 3-22). Law enforcement revealed that these searches began on July 12 at 11:35 pm and ended on July 13 at

5:25 pm. They believed that the victim was murdered at 5:32 pm. (R. p. 580 l. 8-12). After the estimated murder time, there were no more searches of the Sack Construction Company found on Appellant's phone. (R. p. 580 l. 13-17).

During the trial agent, Bryce Eikenberg of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms (ATF) testified. Agent Eikenberg was asked to research the prevalence of a 10mm (like the one recovered) in the Charleston area. (R. p. 270 l. 15-18). Agent Eikenberg researched the database for Charleston and nine counties surrounding the Charleston area. (Tr. p. 229 l. 15-18). In this search Agent Eikenberg found fifteen thousand firearms which were traced through the system. Only 1.28% were .10-millimeter firearms. (R. p. 271 l. 17). Agent Eikenberg was also asked to do a search for the serial number found on the gun in the Facebook photograph. The serial number was traced to a 10mm Glock 20 pistol. (R. p. 277 l. 10-11).

Dr. Virginia Richards, forensic pathologist, also testified. Dr. Richards was found qualified as an expert in the field of forensic pathology. (R. p. 402 l. 3-9). Dr. Richards performed the autopsy on the victim on July 16, 2021. (R. p. 402 l. 10-13). Dr. Richards testified that the victim received a gunshot wound to the back of the neck, which was the only lethal wound. (R. p. 402 l. 15-18). Dr. Richards stated that she found that the bullet tore some of the victim's spinal cord where it connects to the top of the brain stem, as well as muscle and skin. The bullet also fractured some bones in the front of the face and at the base of his skull. It also caused bruising on the base of his brain. (R. p. 402 l. 23 – p. 403 l. 3). Dr. Richards found only one wound and no exit wound. (R. p. 405 l. 10-11). Dr. Richards determined that the victim died from a gunshot wound to the neck. (R. p. 409 l. 2-3).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial court did not err in admitting evidence from phone records obtained by a valid search warrant issued by a circuit court judge pursuant to the Federal Closed Storage Act, the trial court applied the correct standard established in Federal and South Carolina law and each affidavit established probable cause revealing that the Appellant possibly committed these offenses and that evidence of a crime would be found within the items searched; therefore, each search warrant was valid and the items found were lawfully entered into evidence.**

Relevant Facts

Prior to his arrest, law enforcement obtained search warrants for the Appellant's phone, phone contents, location pings, and Google searches. Prior to trial the Appellant moved to suppress the evidence found via the search warrants. The Appellant argued that law enforcement failed to provide sufficient probable cause, so the evidence acquired was not admissible.

On July 20, 2021, an affidavit for a search warrant was presented to the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge, for the Appellant's cell phone. The following affidavit was presented to the court in order to acquire the Appellant's cell phone:

"On Tuesday, July 13, 2021, at approximately 6:00 pm, officers with the city of Charleston Police Department responded to 1012 Bantry Circle, which is located in the City and County of Charleston, SC in reference to an unresponsive party. Upon arrival, officers located the victim, David Conner inside the front entry way lying in a large pool of blood. The victim was subsequently pronounced deceased on scene by Charleston County EMS. During the course of the investigation, Detectives discovered that the victim had sustained a single gunshot wound to the head. Detectives also noted that nothing inside the apartment appeared to be disturbed and the Victim was still in possession of all of his property. Also, the Victim's roommate confirmed that none of their personal property was missing from inside the apartment as well."

"During the course of the investigation, Detectives learned that the victim left work at approximately 1700 hours and was speaking with his wife on the telephone during the entire 30-minute-long trip home. Upon arriving at the apartment complex, the victim parked his vehicle in the rear parking lot, ended the call with his wife and entered the apartment. During the canvass of the incident location, the victim's vehicle (white-in-color Chevy Silverado, GA: PLJ3395) was located in the parking lot located behind building 1000 of the Bolton's Landing Apartments. Furthermore, Detectives discovered the Victim's license tag was captured on ALPR camera along I-526 at approximately 1717 hrs. as the Victim traveled home to his apartment."

“During a canvass the night of the incident, Detectives located a motion-activated Ring brand doorbell camera affixed to apartment 1013, which is one door from the incident location toward the front breezeway entrance to the 1000 building. Detectives made contact with the resident, Tiffany Hardaway, who confirmed the device belonged to her and that the camera captured both audio and video. In this initial contact with Ms. Hardaway, she provided two videos from the time frame immediately following the homicide. The next morning, Detectives conducted a follow up with Ms. Hardaway for the purpose of obtaining additional video from the afternoon leading up to the homicide. During this interaction, Ms. Hardaway provided the requested footage and in reviewing it, Detectives observed a black male in his late teens to early 20’s walking from Ms. Hardaway’s apartment toward the incident location at 1704 hours. This observation immediately caught Detectives’ attention because thus far, Ms. Hardaway had contended that she lived at the apartment alone and had not disclosed that anyone else was at the apartment on the incident date.”

“Detectives conducted research into Ms. Hardaway and her relatives/associates and learned that she has a brother named Karseem Hardaway. Detectives are familiar with Karseem Hardaway from prior investigations to include firearms related offenses and learned that he had been arrested by the Charleston County Sheriff’s Office in May of 2021 for several criminal charges to include being a felon in possession of a firearm. Karseem Hardaway has a unique physical appearance in that he only has one eye. Detectives reviewed the Ring video from Tiffany Hardaway and found that the subject observed exiting the apartment at 5:04pm on the date of the incident is consistent in appearance with Karseem Hardaway.”

“On July 14, 2021 Detectives learned from the management of the apartment complex that the Victim had contacted the leasing office on Monday, July 12 around 9:00pm (a day before the homicide), to report that he had just had a confrontation with ‘a guy’ who was causing a disturbance outside of his apartment by talking too loudly on his telephone. In this instance the Victim relayed that he had asked the unknown male to quiet down to which the male responded ‘go fuck yourself.’ The victim then relayed to management he was ‘worried that it was not a good situation’ and requested the male be ‘removed from the area.’ This gave Detectives further cause for concern that the Victim may have encountered someone from within the complex with whom he might have had a problem.”

“After learning this, Detectives responded back to the incident location to follow up with residents regarding the altercation the previous day. As Det. Crockett was arriving, he observed a black male enter a red Honda Accord (SC Tag UJ1776) which he knew from research to be registered to Karseem Hardaway.”

“Det. Crockett made contact with the subject and identified him as Karseem Hardaway based on his unique physical appearance. Det. Crockett inquired as to whether he had been at Ms. Hardaway’s apartment the night of July 12, 2021. Hardaway not only confirmed that he had been there and stayed over the night of the 12th but also positively identified himself as the subject captured on Ring video departing the apartment at 5:04PM on July 13th 2021 from a still photograph obtained from the aforementioned footage. Hardaway stated that upon exiting the apartment at that time, he left the complex in his vehicle and drove to the address on Johns Island.

He stated that he was unaware of a dispute nor did he witness a shooting or any other type of altercation.”

“Detectives then made contact with Ms. Hardaway to inquire about the individual they had witnessed on her Ring camera. Detectives showed her an image of the male captured on her camera departing her residence at 5:04pm the night of the homicide and she identified him as her brother, Karseem Hardaway. Detectives then asked to review her Ring camera to see if it captured the interaction with the Victim and the unknown male on the night of July 12, 2021. At this request, Ms. Hardaway’s demeanor noticeably appeared to change and she reluctantly began to review her video. As Det. Crockett watched her scroll through her video feed, she appeared to delete at least one video by pressing several buttons on the screen of her device which resulted in a pop up screen with a red bar at the bottom being generated. Ms. Hardaway then pressed on the red bar on the screen before voluntarily handing Det. Crockett her device. Det. Crockett then repeated the actions he had just witnessed by selecting a video and pressing the delete button just as Ms. Hardaway had done. This action resulted in the same pop up screen with a red bar being generated Detective Crockett inquired if Ms. Hardaway had deleted any videos from the dates requested and she replied ‘no.’”

“Through further investigation, Detectives learned that a vehicle consistent in appearance with Karseem Hardaway’s 2004 Honda Accord (SC – UJ1776) was captured on camera traveling on Bluewater Way towards Bees Ferry Road, passing the management office for Bolton’s Landing Apartments at 5:35PM the night of the homicide. Next, the same vehicle appears on video at the Blue Water gas station (1195 Bees Ferry Rd., Charleston, SC) at the intersection of Bees Ferry Rd. and Main Road at 5:37pm traveling on Main Road towards US 17. Hardaway’s vehicle is then captured on ALPR camera at approximately 5:42 pm traveling onto John’s Island, SC. This direction of travel is not only away from the incident location but in the immediate time frame of the incident and in the appropriate direction Karseem states he traveled upon leaving the apartment complex. It should be noted, however, that Karseem exits the apartment at 5:04 PM but is not observed traveling past the management office of the complex until 5:35 PM. This timeframe leaves nearly 30 minutes unaccounted for which potentially places Karseem in the area of the incident location at the time of the murder.”

“When Detectives interacted with Karseem on July 14, 2021, he stated that he would be driving from the apartment complex to the O2 Fitness location on Daniel Island to go to the gym. Based on this statement Detectives made contact with staff at O2 Fitness who stated that Karseem has a trial membership and provided contact information associated with the account to include telephone number and email address. The phone number associated with the account is 843-259-5916 and the email address is karseemhardaway30@gmail.com. Detectives also observed Karseem to be in possession of and manipulating/operating a working cell phone at the time of their interaction.”

“On July 16, 2021, Tiffany Hardaway was taken into custody on an arrest warrant for Obstruction of Justice relating to the decision of the aforementioned videos. After her arrest, Ms. Hardaway provided a post Miranda statement in which she confirmed that Karseem regularly stays at her apartment and had done so the night before and throughout the day of the murder. This statement matched that as provided by Karseem as well. Ms. Hardaway also conceded that she could not

account for his whereabouts starting around 2:30pm the day of the murder because she departed the apartment to go to Goose Creek and had not returned until later in the evening when police were already on scene.”

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