**RECEIVED**

**Jul 23 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

v.

KARSEEM NICHOLAS HARDAWAY,

APPELLANT

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Appellant Case No. 2024-001245

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

Scarlett A. Wilson  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit  
101 Meeting Street

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

“After learning this, Detectives responded back to the incident location to follow up with residents regarding the altercation the previous day. As Det. Crockett was arriving, he observed a black male enter a red Honda Accord (SC Tag UJ1776) which he knew from research to be registered to Karseem Hardaway.”

“Det. Crockett made contact with the subject and identified him as Karseem Hardaway based on his unique physical appearance. Det. Crockett inquired as to whether he had been at Ms. Hardaway’s apartment the night of July 12, 2021. Hardaway not only confirmed that he had been there and stayed over the night of the 12<sup>th</sup> but also positively identified himself as the subject captured on Ring video departing the apartment at 5:04PM on July 13<sup>th</sup> 2021 from a still photograph obtained from the aforementioned footage. Hardaway stated that upon exiting the apartment at that time, he left the complex in his vehicle and drove to the address on Johns Island.

He stated that he was unaware of a dispute nor did he witness a shooting or any other type of altercation.”

“Detectives then made contact with Ms. Hardaway to inquire about the individual they had witnessed on her Ring camera. Detective showed her an image of the male captured on her camera departing her residence at 5:04pm the night of the homicide and she identified him as her brother, Karseem Hardaway. Detectives then asked to review her Ring camera to see if it captured the interaction with the Victim and the unknown male on the night of July 12, 2021. At this request, Ms. Hardaway demeanor noticeably appeared to change and she reluctantly began to review her video. As Det. Crockett watched her scroll through her video feed, she appeared to delete at least one video by pressing several buttons on the screen of her device which resulted in a pop up screen with a red bar at the bottom being generated. Ms. Hardaway then pressed on the red bar on the screen before voluntarily handing Det. Crockett her device. Det. Crockett then repeated the actions he had just witnessed by selecting a video and pressing the delete button just as Ms. Hardaway had done. This action resulted in the same pop up screen with a red bar being generated Detective Crockett inquired if Ms. Hardaway had deleted any videos from the dates requested and she replied ‘no.’”

“Through further investigation, Detectives learned that a vehicle consistent in appearance with Karseem Hardaway’s 2004 Honda Accord (SC – UJ1776) was captured on camera traveling on Bluewater Way towards Bees Ferry Road, passing the management office for Bolton’s Landing Apartments at 5:35PM the night of the homicide. Next, the same vehicle appears on video at the Blue Water gas station (1195 Bees Ferry Rd., Charleston, SC) at the intersection of Bees Ferry Rd. and Main Road at 5:37pm traveling on Main Road towards US 17. Hardaway’s vehicle is then captured on ALPR camera at approximately 5:42pm traveling onto John’s Island, SC. This direction of travel is not only away from the incident location but in the immediate time frame of the incident and in the appropriate direction Karseem states he traveled upon leaving the apartment complex. It should be noted, however, that Karseem exits the apartment at 5:04PM but is not observed traveling past the management officer of the complex until 5:35PM. This timeframe leaves nearly 30 minutes unaccounted for which potentially places Karseem in the area of the incident location at the time of the murder.”

“When Detectives interacted with Karseem on July 14, 2021, he stated that he would be driving from the apartment complex to the O2 Fitness location on Daniel Island to go to the gym. Based on this statement Detectives made contact with staff at O2 Fitness who stated that Karseem has a trial membership and provided contact information associated with the account to include telephone number and email address. The phone number associated with the account is 843-259-5916 and the email address is [karseemhardaway30@gmail.com](mailto:karseemhardaway30@gmail.com). Detectives also observed Karseem to be in possession of and manipulating/operating a working cell phone at the time of their interaction.”

“On July 16, 2021, Tiffany Hardaway was taken into custody on an arrest warrant for Obstruction of Justice relating to the decision of the aforementioned videos. After her arrest, Ms. Hardaway provided a post Miranda statement in which she confirmed that Karseem regularly stays at her apartment and had done so the night before and throughout the day of the murder. This statement matched that as provided by Karseem as well. Ms. Hardaway also conceded that she could not

account for his whereabouts starting around 2:30pm the day of the murder because she departed the apartment to go to Goose Creek and had not returned until later in the evening when police were already on scene.”

“A lawful search warrant was executed upon her residence for the seizure of her cell phone. The device, an Apple iPhone was subsequently located, seized, and placed into evidence. A lawful search warrant for the forensic extraction of this device was then obtained and executed. An examination of the data obtained from this extraction revealed that Ms. Hardaway regularly communicates with Karseem via the phone number provided on the O2 Fitness application, 843-259-5916. Detectives also noted that Ms. Hardaway and Karseem were in frequent contact with each other after each were spoken to during their respective encounters with CPD Detectives on July 14, 2021. Finally, Detectives discovered a text message and phone call received by Ms. Hardaway from Karseem at approximately 5:36pm in which he instructed Ms. Hardaway to tell her children to lock the apartment door because he had forgotten to do so after he left. This is minutes after Detectives believe the homicide to have occurred.”

“The affiant is aware, through over ten years of law enforcement training and experience, that cell phones are nearly ubiquitous in today’s society. During contact with CPD Detectives on July 14, 2021, Karseem was observed to be in possession of an operational smart phone which Detectives believe he regularly uses for communication. This communication is reflected in Ms. Hardaway’s cellular phone data and the affiant believes, based on these established facts, a seizure of Karseem’s cellular telephone will provide CPD Detectives the opportunity to further this criminal investigation.”

(R\*).

There were also other search warrants having to do with information that was in the Appellant’s phone, phone’s location, and his Google searches. The other search warrants had almost identical information within the affidavit except for the last paragraph related to the actual information sought, how this information could be found, and why it related to this investigation.

#### Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s exclusions either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Winkler*, 388 S.C. 574, 583, 698 S.E.2d 596, 601 (2010).

A search warrant may be used only upon the finding of probable cause, and it is a duty of the reviewing court to ensure the issuing official had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed. *State v. Chisholm*, 395 S.C. 259, 267, 717 S.E.2d 614, 618 (Ct. App. 2011). The Fourth Amendment's proper function is to constrain, not against all instructions as such, but against intrusions which are not justified by the circumstances, or which are made in an improper manner. *Maryland v. King*, 569 U.S. 435, 447, 133 S.Ct. 1958, 1969 (2013). Upon review, an appellate court's task is to decide whether the magistrate had substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. *State v. Driggers*, 322 S.C. 506, 510, 473 S.E.2d 57, 59 (Ct. App. 1996).

### Discussion

The Appellant alleges that the trial court erred in allowing the evidence that was collected as a result of the search warrants, because the search warrants did not have sufficient probable cause. The Appellant alleged that the search warrants were allowed due to the fact that Appellant was in proximity of the crime scene. The Appellant alleged that the only thing that was presented to the circuit court was the fact that he walked by the victim's apartment on the Ring video. There was much more presented by law enforcement revealing sufficient probable cause in order to obtain the search warrant.

A search warrant may be issued only upon the finding of probable cause. This determination requires the magistrate to make a practical, common-sense decision of whether, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, including the veracity and basis of knowledge of people supplying information, that there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. *State v. Keith*, 356 S.C. 219, 223-224, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003), quoting, *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 150, 561 S.E.2d 640, 644 (Ct. App. 2002). The Appellant argues that the only probable cause presented was the fact the

Appellant was caught walking by the victim's apartment on a Ring Camera. This is not true. There is an ample amount of probable cause presented revealing that the Appellant was a suspect, and the items sought would reveal relevant evidence.

First, within the search warrant it stated that the Appellant drove a red Honda, and while in the parking lot, Detective Crockett spoke to him. The Appellant informed him that he was the person on the Ring camera that was leaving Ms. Hardaway's apartment at 5:04PM. The Appellant informed law enforcement that was the time he left the complex and drove to Johns Island. However, the search warrant stated that the apartment complex surveillance video revealed Appellant left the complex at 5:35, and was later seen on Bees Ferry Rd. at 5:37. Law enforcement believed that the crime occurred at 5:32. Therefore, the Appellant lied to law enforcement about his whereabouts at the time the crime occurred. The affidavit also reveals that there is nearly 30 minutes of unaccounted for which possibly places the Appellant at the scene of the crime.

There was also information within the affidavit of the Appellant's sister possibly destroying evidence and lying about it. The Appellant argues that information regarding the actions of another person should not be considered as probable cause in an affidavit for a search warrant against him. The Court must look at the totality of circumstances in order to see if probable cause exists. It is the combined circumstances and not each circumstance separately, by which probable cause must be evaluated. Probable cause turns on a totality of the circumstances analysis and requires a practical common-sense decision whether there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. *United States v. Gondres-Medrano*, 3 F.4<sup>th</sup> 708 714 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2021). The fact that the Appellant's sister, who resided at the apartment in which the Appellant was recorded coming out about 30 minutes before the crime, leads to a common-sense deduction that Appellant may be involved in the crime. On top of this fact, the sister proceeded to possibly

erase incriminating evidence and then lie about it to the authorities. This along with all of the other evidence presented within the affidavit definitely reveals probable cause. The search warrants were justifiably granted and the incriminating evidence found was lawfully allowed into evidence during trial. Valid warrants may be issued to search property, whether or not occupied by a third party. When there is probable cause, the fruits, instrumentalities, or evidence of the crime will be found. *Zurcher v. Stanford Daily*, 436 U.S. 547, 553, 98 S.Ct. 1970, 1975 (1978). Search warrants are not directed at persons; they authorize the search of “place[s] and the seizure of “things” and as a constitutional matter they need not even name the person from whom the things will be seized.” *Zurcher*; 436 U.S. at 555, 98 S.Ct. at 1976, quoting, *United States v. Kahn*, 415 U.S. 143, 155 n.15, 94 S.Ct. 977, 984 (1974).

The Appellant also accuses the trial court of using the wrong standard in determining the lawfulness of these search warrants. Within her decision the trial court stated that the issuing judge’s, “task was to determine whether – her role was to make a practical, commonsense decision whether under the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit there was a fair probability that evidence of a crime would be found in the particular place to be searched.” (Pre-trial Tr. p. 75 l. 2-6). In *State v. Gentile* 373 S.C. 506, 646 S.E.2d 171 (Ct. App. 2007), this Court decided,

A magistrate may issue a search warrant only upon a finding of probable cause. “This determination requires the magistrate to make a **practical, common-sense decision of whether, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, including** the veracity and basis of knowledge of persons that the bases of knowledge of persons supplying the information, **there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place**”

*Gentile*, 373 S.C. at 512-13, 646 S.E.2d at 174, quoting, *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 150, 561 S.E.2d 640, 644 (Ct. App. 2002)(emphasis added).

The trial court quoted the exact language as instructed by the Court when a determination is made that sufficient probable cause was presented in the affidavit to allow the search. Since the trial

court stated the language found in caselaw, the Appellant's argument that the trial court did not apply the proper standard has no merit. There was more than sufficient probable cause presented to the Judge McCoy in order to have the search warrant granted. The seizure of the Appellant's phone where law enforcement found a multitude of incriminating evidence, was lawful and lawfully introduced as evidence trial.

There was sufficient probable cause presented to the court in the affidavit in order to allow the court to accept and issue the search warrant. The trial court used the proper standard in order to accept the search warrant and deny the Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence due to the warrant not having sufficient probable cause. The traditional standard for review of an issuing magistrate's probable cause determination has been that so long as the magistrate had a "substantial basis for ....conclud[ing]" that a search would uncover evidence of wrongdoing, the Fourth Amendment requires no more. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 236 (1983), quoting, *Jones v. United States*, 362 U.S. 257, 271, 80 S.Ct. 725, 736 (1960).

- 2. The items found within these search warrants were essential to the case; therefore, they were not harmless. There was no deceit by law enforcement in the affidavit presented to the circuit court in the issuance of these search warrants; therefore, if there was any error, these warrants were issued in good faith, the evidence was still admissible pursuant to *U.S. v. Leon*.**

### Relevant Facts

The Appellant argues that the evidence found as a result of the search warrants issued by the Circuit Court was critical to the state's case; therefore, this cannot be considered harmless. The Respondent would agree. The evidence found within the phone of the Appellant includes Facebook photos revealing that the Appellant had access to the type of weapon used in the murder of the victim, a gun type that only 1% of the people in a nine-county radius was in the ATF database. The phone revealed Google searches made by the Appellant relating to Sack Construction, the company

where the victim worked. These searches stopped right after the murder. There was also evidence that the phone was located in the same location of the murder and at the time it occurred. The evidence was essential in convicting the Appellant, so it cannot be considered harmless. Also, these search warrants were obtained in good faith. If this court determines that the issuance of these warrants was in error, the evidence still should have been allowed pursuant to the good faith doctrine.

### Standard of Review

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